Report No: IGSC WP 2023-003



# 2023

# 8i Ecosystem Analysis of the Maturing ASEAN Country -Malaysia

Teow Hui Hui Dhiviya Gopal Balakrishnan Pervaiz K. Ahmed Mahendhiran Sanggaran Nair Santha Vaithilingam

WORKING PAPER

# **Author Information**

#### 1. Dr. Hui Hui Teow, Postdoctoral Research Fellow

Sunway Institute for Global Strategy and Competitiveness, Sunway University, Jalan Universiti, Bandar Sunway, 47500, Petaling Jaya, Malaysia Email: huihuit@sunway.edu.my

Dhiviya Gopal Balakrishnan, *Research Analyst* Sunway Institute for Global Strategy and Competitiveness,
 Sunway University, Jalan Universiti,
 Bandar Sunway, 47500, Petaling Jaya, Malaysia
 Email: dhiviyag@sunway.edu.my

Professor Pervaiz Khalid Ahmed, *Director* Sunway Institute for Global Strategy and Competitiveness,
 Sunway University, Jalan Universiti,
 Bandar Sunway, 47500, Petaling Jaya, Malaysia
 Email: pervaiz@sunway.edu.my

4. Professor Mahendhiran Sanggaran Nair, Pro-Vice Chancellor (Research Engagement & Impact)
Sunway University, Jalan Universiti,
Bandar Sunway, 47500, Petaling Jaya, Malaysia
Email: mahendhiransn@sunway.edu.my

5. Professor Santha Vaithilingam, *Deputy Director* Sunway Institute for Global Strategy and Competitiveness, Sunway University, Jalan Universiti, Bandar Sunway, 47500, Petaling Jaya, Malaysia Email: santhaav@sunway.edu.my

# 8i Ecosystem Analysis of the Maturing ASEAN Country – Malaysia

# Hui Hui Teow<sup>1</sup>, Dhiviya Gopal Balakrishnan, Pervaiz K. Ahmed, Mahendhiran Sanggaran Nair, Santha Vaithilingam

Sunway Institute for Global Strategy and Competitiveness, Sunway University, Malaysia

# Abstract

This paper explores Malaysia's ecosystem and its state of play. Malaysia is a unique country with a rich diversity of cultures and people. Since gaining independence in 1957, Malaysia has undergone a rapid economic transformation, shifting from an agriculture-based economy to one specialising in manufacturing and service sectors. Its strategic location at the heart of Southeast Asia has made it a major exporter of electrical and electronic products to key markets like China, Hong Kong, Japan, and the ASEAN region. As a maturing ASEAN country, in addition to fostering innovation for economic growth, Malaysia is ramping up its efforts to drive digital transformation and transition the nation towards a green economy. Despite significant progress in socio-economic development, the country still faces various challenges that need attention. These include political uncertainty, an absence of a robust collaborative ecosystem involving multiple stakeholders, a significant urban-rural divide in terms of infraand infostructure development, and a skills mismatch within the labour market, among various other challenges, all of which can pose threats to Malaysia's global competitiveness if left unaddressed. To holistically assess Malaysia's current state of play, this paper utilises the 8i ecosystem framework characterised by eight enablers: institutions, interaction, integrity, infrastructure, infostructure, intellectual capital, incentives, and internationalisation. Following that, this paper concludes with recommendations to address the challenges identified within the 8i ecosystem of Malaysia.

Keywords: Malaysia, the maturing ASEAN country, the current state of play, 8i ecosystem analysis

Accepted – 24 October 2023

<sup>1</sup>Corresponding author: <u>huihuit@sunway.edu.my</u>

# **Table of Contents**

1.0 Introduction	3
2.0 Definitions of the eight enablers in the 8i Innovation Framework	5
3.0 8i Ecosystem Analysis of Malaysia	9
3.1 Institutions	10
3.2 Interaction	12
3.3 Integrity	14
3.4 Infrastructure	17
3.5 Infostructure	20
3.6 Intellectual Capital	22
3.7 Incentives	25
3.8 Internationalization	28
4.0 Summary Evaluation	30
5.0 Recommendations	32
6.0 References	37

#### **1.0 Introduction**

Malaysia, the fifth largest country in Southeast Asia and the 19<sup>th</sup> biggest in Asia, comprises a land area of 330,345 km<sup>2</sup> and a coastline stretching 4,675 km (Statista, 2022; World Data, 2023). It is divided into two distinct regions: West Malaysia (Peninsular Malaysia), situated on the Malay Peninsula, and East Malaysia, located on the island of Borneo (World Data, 2023). Besides that, Malaysia is made up of 13 states, including Perlis, Kedah, Penang, Perak, Selangor, Negeri Sembilan, Malacca, Johor, Kelantan, Terengganu, Pahang, Sabah, and Sarawak, as well as three federal territories, namely Kuala Lumpur, Labuan, and Putrajaya (World Data, 2023). With a population of over 33 million, this country is well-known for its diverse cultural heritage, which has significantly shaped a multi-ethnic and multilingual society (Al Syahid, 2023). The population is predominantly made up of three main ethnic groups: Malay (69.9%), Chinese (22.8%), and Indian (6.6%), who collectively account for 99.3% of the country's population (Statista, 2022). In terms of the political system, Malaysia is a constitutional monarchy with a parliamentary democracy, in which His Majesty the King (also known as the Yang di-Pertuan Agong) serves as the head of state with primarily ceremonial roles, and the Prime Minister is the head of government with ruling power (Parliament of Malaysia, 2023). The government is democratically selected through a general election held every five years, except in cases where the Prime Minister requests the dissolution of Parliament from Yang di-Pertuan Agong (Chu, 2022).

Since gaining independence in 1957, Malaysia has rapidly transformed its economy from heavily dependent on agriculture and primary commodities, such as tin and rubber, to one specialising in the manufacturing and service sectors. This rapid transformation has enabled Malaysia to position itself as one of the world's major manufacturers and exporters of electronic and electrical products (World Bank, 2022). Additionally, thanks to its strategic location at the heart of the ASEAN region, Malaysia has emerged as a strategic business hub for multinational corporations and foreign investors seeking to establish their presence in Southeast Asia. This, in turn, has led to the creation of ample job opportunities and a highly diversified economy (Business Today, 2021; The Edge Market, 2021). Diversifying a nation's economy can increase its resilience against potential global economic downturns (Harinderan, 2023). Notably, as a maturing ASEAN country, Malaysia has witnessed the most substantial economic growth in the ASEAN region, achieving an annual increase of 8.7% in its gross domestic product (GDP) in 2022 (Biswas, 2023), a substantial improvement compared to the 3.1% growth recorded in 2021 (The Star, 2023a). Despite this growth, Malaysia still grapples with the persistent challenge of income inequality (World Bank, 2022), particularly between urban areas in Peninsular Malaysia and the rural regions of East Malaysia (Rongen et al., 2021). Nevertheless, the government has implemented targeted measures to address this issue, including distributing financial assistance to low-income households nationwide (World Bank, 2022; Rongen et al., 2021). While it is essential to acknowledge the government's efforts in tackling this issue, a more multifaceted approach is still required to bridge the income gap in the nation effectively.

Besides that, Malaysia has been prioritising its infrastructure development in recent years, particularly by improving its transportation networks by constructing highways and railways across the country. These initiatives have played a crucial role in improving connectivity and driving economic growth in the country (Birruntha, 2022; Woof, 2022). Additionally, Malaysia has invested heavily in its information and communications technology (ICT) infrastructure, ensuring stable and high-speed internet connectivity throughout the country (Adilla, 2022). Despite these achievements, there are still significant disparities in the provision of essential infrastructure, including paved roads, access to clean water and electricity, healthcare, education, and internet connectivity, particularly in rural areas. This has created a significant urban-rural divide, hindering the country's inclusive growth of socioeconomic activities (Ariff, 2021; Yeo, 2020). Furthermore, although the unemployment rate was reduced to 3.6% in 2022 from 5.3% in 2020, skills mismatch remains a significant issue in Malaysia's job market, which can potentially limit the country's ability to attract foreign direct investments (FDI) and compete on a global scale (Department of Statistics Malaysia, 2022; Moh, 2022). As can be seen, although Malaysia has implemented various initiatives to promote its socio-economic growth, there is still a need for the country to continue prioritising economic reforms and invest in essential infrastructure development to expedite the growth of a sustainable and inclusive economy.

To offer a more holistic view of Malaysia's current state of play, this paper conducts an ecosystem analysis of Malaysia, featuring eight key enablers referred to as the "8i enablers", which include institutions, interaction, integrity, infrastructure, infostructure, intellectual capital, and internationalisation. By conducting an 8i ecosystem analysis, this paper helps identify Malaysia's challenges. Subsequently, the analyses identify best practices that can effectively address these challenges and take the nation to greater heights.

## 2.0 Definitions of the eight enablers in the 8i Innovation Framework

The definitions of the eight enablers in the 8i Innovation Framework are provided below, and a summary of them is shown in Figure 1:

• Institutions refer to the quality and strength of the institutional leadership and institutions (e.g., government agencies, research institutes, higher education institutions, industry players) in managing the country's institutional governance systems. These include the existence of effective government and strong "Champions with Clouts" in various sectors to efficiently oversee governance systems and manage the

implementation of policies to enhance the country's competitiveness through the Whole-of-Nation approach.

- Interaction encompasses the state of cooperation, collaboration, and knowledgesharing among the key stakeholders (government agencies, industry players, higher education institutions, and research institutes) in a country. These collaborations are essential to creating a knowledge- and innovation-driven economy characterised by a robust knowledge-sharing culture that fosters the adoption of best practices and innovative systems to strengthen the country's economic competitiveness.
- Integrity involves the state of the governance systems at the national, state, and local levels that ensure seamless and efficient implementation of policies, as well as regulatory frameworks that uphold transparency, accountability, and impartiality to promote political stability and socio-economic growth. These include ensuring effective implementation and enforcement of regulations and policies and establishing laws and policies conducive to business activities that promote economic competitiveness.
- Infrastructure refers to the state of the natural infrastructure (e.g., environment lakes, rivers, natural habitats, etc.) as well as knowledge and technology-driven physical infrastructure necessary for a country to function efficiently. Physical infrastructure encompasses public and private systems and services necessary for socio-economic growth and the population's well-being. These include transportation infrastructure (e.g., roads, railways, bridges, airports, seaports, etc.), energy infrastructure (e.g., physical networks of oil and natural gas pipelines, power generation, transmission, and distribution systems), water infrastructure (e.g., water supply and sanitisation systems, wastewater management systems, etc.), and social infrastructure (e.g., healthcare facilities, schools, etc.).

- Infostructure captures the state of digital infrastructure, ICT connectivity, and advanced digital technologies to promote the country's economic development and competitiveness. These include innovative technologies such as artificial intelligence systems, big data analytics, blockchain technology, 5G technology and networks, and other digital technologies to ensure cybersecurity and drive innovation development across various industries.
- Intellectual Capital encompasses the state of the talent stock in the country. These include the availability and quality of the workforce with primary education and competencies, specialised knowledge, innovation capabilities, technical competencies, as well as entrepreneurial and leadership skills to enhance a country's global competitiveness by fostering a culture of creativity and innovation.
- Incentives involve the availability and quality of fiscal and non-fiscal incentives to drive the development of the country's STIE ecosystem. These include incentives to promote a knowledge-sharing culture by strengthening the "quintuple innovation helix", increase local and foreign investments to nurture and develop strong local STI players, promote research and development activities, enable greater access to national research facilities, tax incentives and subsidies for STIE initiatives, as well as taxes and fines to discourage activities that are against the UN-SDG goals.
- Internationalization refers to the state of global outreach and international collaboration to promote technology and knowledge transfer, reduce trade barriers, increase market share, and participate in the global value chains. These include participation in free trade agreements and economic partnerships with other countries and adhering to global standards and best practices that enable the country to move up the global value chains.

Internationalization

#### Institutions

Quality of institutions of governance (federal, state, and local council), including regulatory framework and standards bodies that ensures transparency and accountability, and industry associations, community organizations, institutions of learning, and research institutes.

#### Interaction

Level and quality of cooperation, collaboration and knowledge sharing among all stakeholders in the ecosystem.

#### Integrity

Governance systems that manage resources of the ecosystem efficiently and raise the return on value for all stakeholders in the country.

#### **Infrastructure**

Physical (roads, ports, logistic supply chain, smart building and other public facilities) and natural infrastructure (environment – lakes, rivers and natural habitat, etc.) that are technology and knowledge intensive.

# Figure 1. The 8i Ecosystem Framework to assess Malaysia's current state of play

Adapted from Nair (2011) and Nair et al. (2022)

8

Participation in the formulation and adherence to international laws, treaties, and engagements that ensure sustainable management and security of the resources in the ecosystem. These include the depth and breadth of engagement with global knowledge networks, institutions of governance, and supply chains.

#### Incentives

Fiscal and non-fiscal incentives to encourage the adoption of new technology, innovation, and systems to enhance the competitiveness of the ecosystem.

#### Intellectual Capital

Skills and knowledge of talent available in the industry – both general, specialized knowledge, technical, entrepreneurial, and leadership skills.

#### Infostructure

Digital infrastructure, such as ICT connectivity and the use of advanced digital technology and big data that enable seamless integration of multiple digital and data analytic systems in the ecosystem.

# A dented from Nair (2011) and Nair at al. (2022)



### 3.0 8i Ecosystem Analysis of Malaysia

#### Institutions

The effective management of a country's institutional governance systems is vital for its competitiveness in the global market. Competent leaders and strong champions are needed across government agencies, research institutes, higher education institutions, and industry players. Malaysia performs relatively well in government effectiveness compared to other ASEAN countries but lags behind high-income OECD nations. Political instability and corruption scandals have affected the country's government institutions. Other institutions, such as research institutes and universities, face challenges in effectively translating research outcomes into practical applications and generating income. Furthermore, industry players have yet to leverage the R&D expertise and resources in the country fully, hindering the transfer of knowledge and technology. Overall, Malaysia still has room for improvement to strengthen its institutional leadership and governance so as to enhance its competitiveness through the Whole-of-Nation approach.

#### **Interaction**

The lack of coordination among government bodies in Malaysia has resulted in fragmented policies and inefficient implementation, leading to challenges in achieving sustainable economic growth. This lack of coordination is evident in multiple areas, such as social assistance, green growth agendas, and essential infrastructure development. In addition, bureaucratic inefficiencies caused by poor coordination have led to delays in implementing policies. While partnerships between TVET institutions and industry partners exist, collaboration between government bodies, public research institutions, higher education institutions, and industry players in R&D remains weak, leading to piecemeal and uncoordinated innovation activities. Improved coordination among all stakeholders is needed to foster a strong knowledge-sharing culture and drive sustainable economic growth.

#### Integrity

Malaysia has made significant progress in establishing a national integrity system within the ASEAN region. However, there is still room for improvement in areas such as controlling corruption, maintaining regulatory quality, upholding the rule of law, and ensuring political stability. These challenges are attributed to factors such as frequent changes in government, lack of political will, and inadequate enforcement of regulations. Enhancing the effectiveness of policies, ensuring impartiality in the legal administration system, and promoting freedom of expression and media are also critical for Malaysia's development. Despite these challenges, Malaysia provides a relatively favorable regulatory environment for business operations and investments. Foreign investors are allowed to establish and own businesses. Nonetheless, Malaysia needs to continue to take active measures to combat corruption and improve its national integrity system to achieve sustainable socio-economic growth and development.

#### Infrastructure

The infrastructure quality in Malaysia was rated 78 out of 100 in 2019, which indicates that the country has mediocre infrastructure across various domains like transportation, connectivity, and the supply of electricity and clean water. In order to develop and improve infrastructure projects across the nation, the Malaysian government has allocated a substantial budget of US\$20.43 billion for 2023. The Transport Ministry is working on several railway projects to reduce traffic congestion in the country. Peninsular Malaysia houses the largest natural gas pipeline infrastructure in Asia, while Sarawak is planning to establish a hydrogen plant in Bintulu through partnerships. However, there are still challenges that need to be addressed in rural areas, particularly in providing adequate access to clean water and sanitation, as well as proper healthcare and education infrastructure. As can be seen, further action is required to enhance the country's infrastructure, particularly in rural areas.

Internationalization

Malaysia has signed various regional and international free trade agreements to reduce trade barriers and enhance economic integration. These agreements, including CPTPP and the RCEP, provide preferential market access and increase Malaysia's international trade. Malaysia has the highest level of participation in global value chains among middle-income ASEAN countries, particularly in the electrical and electronic (E&E) sector. Its strategic location, business-friendly environment, and skilled workforce have transformed Malaysia into a global production hub for E&E multinational corporations. However, the total exports by the country's SMEs remain limited due to their lack of readiness and capacity to engage in exporting, limited access to foreign markets, and insufficient innovative products and services. More efforts are needed to expand the local economic value chain and move Malaysia up the global value chains to further enhance its socio-economic growth.

#### Incentives



Fiscal and non-fiscal incentives are vital for driving socio-economic development in Malaysia. Specifically, these incentives are crucial in promoting R&D, green growth, digital transformation, and foreign investment. Incentives like the MESTECC Research & Development Fund and International Collaboration Fund support national and international R&D collaboration efforts. Tax incentives are also provided to accelerate the adoption of electric vehicles and green technologies in Malaysia. Additionally, the Digital Ecosystem Acceleration scheme was launched to incentivize digital technology providers and infrastructure providers, aiming to attract high-quality foreign investments in digital projects. These incentives reflect Malaysia's commitment to building a robust STIE ecosystem and positioning itself as a forward-thinking nation with sustainable practices.

#### Intellectual Capital

Malaysia's multilingual and diverse workforce provides a strategic advantage in attracting foreign investors and international partnerships. The country's linguistic capabilities have been leveraged by companies like Huawei, which established its first overseas training center in Malaysia's Cyberjaya to deliver programs in English to stakeholders. Additionally, Malaysia houses a number of educational institutions, including universities and TVET colleges, but only 35% of the workforce holds a tertiary degree, posing challenges to innovation and economic growth. Furthermore, Malaysia's talent competitiveness ranking has declined, primarily due to a significant skills gap in the labor market. Additionally, there has been a decline in STEM enrollment, which can hinder STI development. Malaysia is also facing a shortage of digital talent with updated digital tech skills, slowing down digital transformation. To address these challenges, improvements are needed in TVET systems, STEM enrollment, and continuous upskilling and reskilling initiatives.

#### Infostructure

Malaysia has experienced rapid growth in its digital economy, contributing 22.6% of the GDP in 2022 and projected to reach 25.5% by 2025. To accelerate digital transformation, the government launched the Malaysia Digital Initiative, aiming to attract high-quality digital investments and foster innovation across nine key economic sectors. Despite these efforts, rural areas in Malaysia still face challenges in accessing high-speed Internet. However, measures are underway to improve connectivity in these areas, including the use of satellite and "White Space" radio frequencies. Although 5G networks have been deployed in urban areas, progress in remote regions is slower due to geographical challenges and lower population density. Addressing these infrastructure gaps is crucial to bridging the urban-rural digital divide and promoting inclusive digital transformation for socio-economic development in Malaysia.

# Figure 2. The 8i ecosystem analysis of Malaysia

#### 3.1 Institutions

Strong and efficient institutional governance systems are crucial for enhancing a country's competitiveness in the global market. This requires the presence of competent leaders and strong "Champions with Clouts" across various sectors, including government agencies, research institutes, higher education institutions, and industry players. Strong institutional leadership determines the overall success of a country by ensuring its stability, accountability, effective decision-making, and implementation of policies.

In terms of the strength of government institutions, despite facing significant political instability and corruption scandals in recent years (Ministry of Economy Malaysia, 2023), Malaysia still performs relatively better in government effectiveness<sup>1</sup> than other ASEAN countries, following Singapore and Brunei but falls short compared to high-income OECD countries (Ministry of Finance Malaysia, 2022; New Straits Times, 2021). Specifically, Malaysia ranks 37<sup>th</sup> out of 192 countries on the Government Effectiveness Index (World Bank, 2021). Since the sixth Malaysian Plan (1990 - 1995), various initiatives and institutional reforms have been made to improve productivity in the public sector across all levels of government in the country. Despite these efforts, the persistence of political uncertainty has continued to have a detrimental effect on the performance of the public sector (Ministry of Finance Malaysia, 2022). In many instances, Malaysia's government agencies often struggle to effectively and efficiently execute economic policies, plans, and major projects due to unnecessary red tape (Goh, 2022; Ministry of Economy Malaysia, 2023; New Straits Times, 2021). In addition, ambiguous and unclear standard operating procedures in government agencies have created confusion and dampened the citizens' confidence in government

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Government effectiveness is evaluated based on the "perceptions of the quality of public services, the quality of the civil service and the degree of its independence from political pressures, the quality of policy formulation and implementation, and the credibility of the government's commitment to such policies" (Kaufman, Kraay, and Mastruzzi 2010, p. 4).

effectiveness (Ministry of Economic Affairs, 2018). Furthermore, civil servants may sometimes face challenges in managing citizen expectations and delivering public services efficiently due to a lack of appropriate technical skills and capacity (Ministry of Economic Affairs, 2018). As a result, in many instances, the waiting time for government services is typically longer than usual, and applications may remain unattended for an extended period (Anis, 2023; Business Today, 2023). As can be seen, Malaysia still has much room for improvement in establishing a strong and effective governance system.

Apart from government agencies, other key players, such as research institutes, higher education institutions, and industry players, also play a crucial role in determining a country's success. Although there have been some improvements in the number of research papers published by public research institutes in Malaysia, they continue to face challenges in effectively translating research outcomes into practical applications. Furthermore, despite the presence of the Knowledge Transfer Programme (KTP) (Universiti Sains Malaysia, n.d.), knowledge transfer activities between public research institutes, universities, and industry players remain limited, as industry players have yet to fully harness the expertise and resources available at the Industry Centres of Excellence (ICoE) of institutes of higher learning in Malaysia (Ministry of Economic Affairs, 2018). As such, public research institutes and universities must enhance their collaboration with industries to promote technology transfer and commercialisation of research outcomes. Besides that, public universities in Malaysia, such as University Malaya and Universiti Teknologi Mara, are less efficient in generating income and managing government operating grants as compared to foreign universities (e.g., Monash University, National University of Singapore, etc.) (Lim et al., 2016). The top three public universities in Malaysia - University Malaya, Universiti Teknologi Petronas, and Universiti Utara Malaysia, were ranked 351 - 500 in the Times Higher Education World

University Rankings 2023 (Times Higher Education, 2023). Other than that, the University Malaya, Universiti Putra Malaysia, and Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia were ranked 70<sup>th</sup>, 123<sup>rd</sup>, and 129<sup>th</sup> in the QS ranking of Asia's universities (QS Top Universities, 2023). These rankings indicate that these public universities perform modestly in R&D, knowledge transfer, and international outlook (THE, 2023; QS Top Universities, 2023). There are great opportunities for these local universities to enhance their R&D and knowledge transfer activities in Malaysia, thereby increasing the country's global competitiveness.

In short, strong and efficient government agencies, research institutes, universities, and industry players are crucial for developing a country's political systems and socio-economic well-being. While Malaysia has made significant progress in these aspects, there is still ample room for improvement in enhancing its institutional leadership and stewardship, which will further help establish a clear vision and direction to transition the country to a high-income economy.

#### **3.2 Interaction**

A resilient and dynamic collaborative ecosystem, marked by extensive cooperation and a culture of knowledge sharing among key stakeholders such as government agencies, industry players, higher education institutions, and research institutes, assumes a critical role in nurturing innovation and driving sustainable economic growth. This collaborative environment facilitates the seamless flow of knowledge, resources, and expertise among various entities, empowering them to capitalise on their respective strengths and collaborate harmoniously towards shared objectives. Consequently, this creates favourable outcomes for the country.

In Malaysia, there exists a tendency for governmental bodies to operate in siloes, resulting in overlapping responsibilities and inconsistent implementation of policies (Ministry of Economy Malaysia, 2023; Rajaendram, 2022). This lack of coordination manifests in

various areas, including the inefficient distribution of social assistance, which leads to fragmented and inadequate social protection systems. Furthermore, the discrepancy between national and state-level environmental policies poses challenges in addressing the country's ecological issues and safeguarding its natural resources (Ministry of Economic Affairs, 2018). Moreover, the absence of effective collaboration between the state and the federal government has hindered the acquisition of funds for essential infrastructure development in rural areas of Sarawak (Tuah et al., 2022). Furthermore, poor coordination among key governance institutions in Malaysia has also resulted in bureaucratic inefficiencies, causing delays in implementing national policies (Ministry of Economic Affairs, 2018; Ministry of Economy Malaysia, 2023). An example is the disconnected efforts between government bodies in managing policies and issues related to foreign worker recruitment, causing a severe shortage of workers and hindering the country's economic development (Adam, 2022). Moreover, during the COVID-19 pandemic, the absence of coordination between different ministries has led to inconsistencies in the implementation of standard operating procedures, causing confusion and frustration among the public and businesses (Fazaniza, 2021; Shamsunahar, 2021). However, formalised collaborations exist between universities and industry players in Malaysia, providing students with opportunities to engage in industrial placements that enrich their practical skills (Ministry of Economic Affairs, 2018; University Kuala Lumpur, 2023). For example, the collaboration between Technical and Vocational Education and Training (TVET) institutions and industry players has produced numerous quality TVET graduates, with more than 10,000 graduates trained by over 100 companies between 2016-2017 (Ministry of Economic Affairs, 2018). Despite these achievements, the R&D collaboration between government bodies, public research institutions, higher education institutions, and industry players remains weak, resulting in piecemeal and uncoordinated research and innovation activities in Malaysia (Ministry of Economic Affairs, 2018). As evidence, the fragmented R&D

collaboration between higher education institutions and industry players is reflected in the country's low score of 53.6 out of 100 on the "University-industry R&D collaboration" index, which is one of the key indicators in the Global Innovation Index (GII) by the World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO) (WIPO, 2022).

In brief, the need for improved coordination among government bodies in Malaysia cannot be overstated. Moreover, while there are established partnerships between TVET institutions and industry partners in the country, there is still room for improvement in coordinating efforts among government bodies, public research institutions, higher education institutions, and industry players to foster a knowledge and innovation-driven economy characterised by a strong knowledge-sharing culture, which will ultimately strengthen the country's economic competitiveness.

## **3.3 Integrity**

A robust national integrity system is crucial in ensuring the efficient implementation of policies and enforcement of regulations to promote political stability and socio-economic growth. Malaysia has been recognised as having a relatively good national integrity system compared to other ASEAN countries. Specifically, it secured the third position in the region, following Singapore and Brunei, in controlling corruption<sup>2</sup>, maintaining regulatory quality<sup>3</sup>, and upholding the rule of law<sup>4</sup>. However, Malaysia falls short in performance in these aspects when compared to high-income OECD countries (World Bank, 2021). Besides that, Malaysia

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  Control of Corruption captures perceptions of the degree to which public authorities use their power for their own personal benefit. This includes both small and large acts of corruption, as well as situations where wealthy and influential groups take control of the government to serve their own interests (World Bank, 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Regulatory quality captures perceptions of the government's effectiveness in creating and enforcing policies and regulations that support and encourage the growth of businesses and industries in the private sector (World Bank, 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Rule of Law refers to how much people trust and follow the rules of society. This includes things like how well contracts are enforced, how property rights are protected, the effectiveness of the police and courts, and the level of crime and violence in a community (World Bank, 2021).

scored 50.94 out of 100 on the political stability and absence of violence/terrorism index (World Bank, 2021). This relatively lower score can be explained by the frequent changes in government since 2018, which has resulted in high levels of political uncertainty in the country (BTI, 2022).

Although substantial efforts have been made to address corruption in Malaysia, the country's position on the Corruption Perceptions Index has worsened since 2019. Specifically, it has slipped from 51<sup>st</sup> place (among 180 nations) with a score of 53 out of 100 to 61<sup>st</sup> place with a score of 47 out of 100 in 2022 (Transparency International, 2019, 2022). This low ranking suggests that corruption has become more prevalent in the country (Ministry of Economy Malaysia, 2023). This can be attributed to several reasons, including the lack of political will to tackle corruption at all levels of government, the appointment of underqualified individuals for key positions in government-linked companies, inadequate parliamentary scrutiny of newly proposed national policies, and the negligence in overseeing and addressing cost overruns in public-private partnership projects (Razak, 2023). Nevertheless, the current ruling government is taking active measures to combat corruption in the country as part of a broader effort to attract foreign investors and drive economic growth. Moreover, the Prime Minister, Datuk Seri Anwar Ibrahim, has firmly committed to combatting corruption and preventing abuse of power, highlighting his determination to establish a transparent and accountable government (Ibrahim, 2023).

Besides that, despite securing the third position in the ASEAN region for regulatory quality, Malaysia's score of 72.6 out of 100 highlights the need for significant improvement in enhancing the government's effectiveness in developing and implementing sound policies (World Bank, 2021). Inadequate implementation of policies and enforcement of rules has hampered the realisation of national policies, making it challenging to identify areas that

require improvement in Malaysia (Ministry of Finance Malaysia, 2022). For example, the Malaysia Wawasan 2020, established in 1991, was an ambitious long-term vision to achieve various national goals and transform Malaysia into a high-income nation by 2020 (Jamal, 2021). Unfortunately, a high degree of political polarisation and inconsistencies between the envisioned goals and the strategies implemented have significantly hindered the plan in addressing the nine outlined challenges. As a result, Malaysia could not achieve all the goals set out in the Wawasan 2020 plan (Jamal, 2021). Furthermore, there are certain degrees of restrictions on freedom of expression in Malaysia, especially in the media. There have been instances where journalists and reporters have been called in by the police for criticising government officials and the judiciary (Freedom House, 2022; Human Rights Watch, 2021).

Additionally, the current legal administration system lacks impartiality as the Attorney General and Public Prosecutor share the same duties, making it susceptible to political influence. Separating the power of these two roles would help improve public confidence and trust in Malaysia's legal and administrative institutions (Ministry of Economic Affairs, 2018; Sinar Daily, 2023). Besides, although foreign entities can establish and own businesses in Malaysia, they must adhere to specific regulations. For example, local equity participation is required when applying for operating licenses and permits. Specifically, foreign investors may own a maximum of 70% of the equity, while at least 30% must be held by Bumiputera entities (e.g., ethnic Malays and indigenous people) (U.S. Department of State, 2021). Despite this limitation, Malaysia ranks 12<sup>th</sup> out of 190 countries on the Ease of Doing Business Index, scoring 81.5, suggesting that the regulatory environment is relatively conducive to business operations and investments (World Bank, 2019).

As can be seen, although Malaysia has made significant progress in strengthening its national integrity system, efforts are still needed to establish a robust and comprehensive

system that effectively addresses corruption, ensures the effective implementation of sound policies, and promotes transparency, accountability, and good governance at all levels of society.

#### **3.4 Infrastructure**

A strong emphasis must be placed on developing a robust infrastructure to ensure the population's overall well-being and foster rapid socio-economic growth in the country. This involves developing efficient transportation systems, establishing extensive energy and water infrastructure, and providing top-notch social infrastructure such as healthcare and education facilities. These infrastructures collectively contribute to a nation's inclusive development and enhance the population's quality of life by granting them access to basic necessities and essential services.

Malaysia scored 78 out of 100 on the Infrastructure Quality Index<sup>5</sup> (World Economic Forum [WEF], 2019). This ranking highlights Malaysia's mediocre infrastructure quality across various domains, including air, sea, and land transportation, as well as connectivity and the supply of electricity and clean water (WEF, 2019). Recognising the importance of infrastructure in national economic development, the Malaysian government has allocated a substantial budget of US\$20.43 billion for 2023, which involves developing and improving 7,615 infrastructure projects across the nation (Woof, 2022). Specifically, a significant portion of the budget will be dedicated to improving the road infrastructure in Sabah, with a particular focus on the development of Phase 1b of the Pan Borneo Sabah Highway. Additionally, substantial investments will be made to upgrade the infrastructure in rural areas across

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Infrastructure quality is evaluated against these indicators: road connectivity index, quality of roads, railroad density, efficiency of train services, airport connectivity, efficiency of air transport services, linear shipping connectivity index, efficiency of seaport services, electrification rate, electric power transmission and distribution losses, exposure to unsafe drinking water, and reliability of water supply (World Economic Forum, 2019).

Malaysia, which help ensure improved connectivity and accessibility for the rural communities (Woof, 2022). Besides that, with 75% of Malaysia being urbanised, Malaysia requires efficient public transportation infrastructure to ease traffic congestion caused by a high number of vehicles. Therefore, the Transport Ministry has outlined plans to complete railway projects, such as the East Coast Rail Link (ECRL), Light Rail Transit 3 (LRT3), and Mass Rapid Transit 3 (MRT3) by 2026, 2027 and 2030, respectively (Birruntha, 2022).

Regarding energy infrastructure, Malaysia possesses Asia's largest domestic natural gas pipeline infrastructure. However, it is primarily concentrated in Peninsular Malaysia, with a 1530-mile natural gas pipeline that caters to domestic demand. Sarawak and Sabah have poor gas distribution coverage, which has limited the utilisation of natural gas in these regions (Mordor Intelligence, 2023). Nevertheless, to promote sustainable energy consumption, Sarawak envisions becoming a hydrogen hub in Malaysia and even Asian regions, aiming to be a leading player in the hydrogen economy by 2028 (Dayak Daily, 2022; Lye, 2022). For example, through the H2biscus Green Hydrogen project, the Sarawak government has partnered with corporations from South Korea (e.g., Samsung Engineering Co Ltd, Posco, and Lotte Chemical) to jointly develop a hydrogen plant in Tanjung Kidurong at Bintulu, Sarawak, which upon completion, will generate 220,000 tonnes of hydrogen annually, catering to the needs of industries in both Malaysia and South Korea (Ten, 2022). This initiative will help create a more sustainable and greener energy system in the region by 2050 (Wong, 2022). With regard to water infrastructure, according to the latest available data from the World Bank (2023), 94% of the population in Malaysia had access to clean water supplies as of 2020, and 77% had access to hygienic sanitation services as of 2018. These statistics indicate that substantial efforts have been made to improve water infrastructure in Malaysia. Although Malaysia's water infrastructure is recognised as one of the most established in Southeast Asia

(Leong, 2018), it still faces significant challenges in addressing various issues related to water pollution, meeting the escalating water demand from businesses and domestic consumers, and providing adequate access to clean water and sanitation for rural communities (Daniele, 2023; Maniam et al., 2021; The Borgen Project, 2020).

In terms of social infrastructure, healthcare facilities (e.g., hospitals, clinics, etc.) are mainly concentrated in urban areas of Malaysia, inadvertently neglecting the healthcare needs of communities in rural areas (Khazanah Research Institute, 2020; Ministry of Economy Malaysia, 2023). Therefore, rural communities often need to travel a long distance on unpaved roads to access healthcare facilities in towns (Falcon, 2019; The Borneo Post, 2023). Moreover, nearly half of the clinics in rural areas, particularly in Sabah and Sarawak, suffer from a shortage of doctors, thus impeding the delivery of high-quality healthcare services to rural communities (Batumalai, 2020). Similar to healthcare infrastructure, school infrastructure and facilities in rural areas of East Malaysia are generally dilapidated and poorly maintained, which has resulted in unfavourable learning environments detrimental to educational outcomes. Unfortunately, the lack of proper school infrastructure in rural areas has significantly exacerbated the urban-rural education gap in Malaysia (Aiman, 2021; Yeo, 2023). Furthermore, obsolete school infrastructure, such as decrepit science labs and the lack of modern learning equipment, has impeded the integration of STEM education in schools, leading to a decline in STEM enrolment in Malaysia (Ismail et al., 2019; Ramli & Talib, 2017).

Despite Malaysia's relatively good performance on the Infrastructure Quality Index (WEF, 2019), further action is required to enhance the country's infrastructure, particularly essential facilities in rural areas. This involves improving the road infrastructure, access to clean water and sanitation, healthcare services, and educational infrastructure, which are vital

to promoting overall social well-being and fostering inclusive economic growth throughout the nation.

### 3.5 Infostructure

Digital infrastructure, ICT connectivity, and advanced digital technologies are crucial in promoting a country's economic competitiveness in the global digital economy. In Malaysia, the digital economy is one of the rapidly growing sectors, contributing approximately 22.6% to the country's GDP in 2022. Projections show that this percentage is expected to increase to 25.5% by 2025 (Gomes, 2022). This growth is driven by the rapid digital transformation stemming from the revolution of key digital technologies in Malaysia, such as cloud technology, robotics, artificial intelligence, big data analytics, cybersecurity, blockchain, financial technology (FinTech), the Internet of Things, etc. (International Trade Administration, 2023). In a bid to boost the growth of the digital economy in Malaysia, the government launched the Malaysia Digital Initiative in July 2022. This digital economy initiative aims to accelerate the adoption of digital technologies in private and public sectors, particularly in nine key economic sectors, including trade, agriculture, services, cities, health, finance, content, tourism, and the Islamic digital economy (Gomes, 2022). In addition to fostering innovation and digitalisation, this initiative will help attract high-value digital investments and promote economic growth across the nine sectors while improving the population's quality of life across the nation (Aziz & Vethasalam, 2022; Gomes, 2022). As a testament to Malaysia's robust digital economy, Amazon Web Services (AWS) has recently announced a significant investment of around RM25.5 billion towards building a state-of-the-art cloud computing infrastructure in the country, with an expected completion date of 2037 (Malaysian Investment Development Authority [MIDA], 2023). This transformative initiative allows Malaysian users to store data securely with lower latency. It is anticipated to unlock ample business opportunities through

cloud-based technologies, accelerating the digitalisation process across various industries in the country. This, in turn, will help attract a substantial influx of digital investments and strengthen Malaysia's position as a leading data centre market in the ASEAN region (Reuters, 2023; Sharon, 2023).

In terms of ICT infrastructure, Malaysia was ranked 36<sup>th</sup> out of 133 countries on the ICT Infrastructure Index, a sub-pillar of the Network Readiness Index (Lanvin & Monteiro, 2022). This ranking highlights that Malaysia still has significant room for improvement in its ICT infrastructure, which incorporates various aspects, such as internet accessibility, coverage of at least a 3G mobile network among the population, Internet bandwidth, and Internet access in schools (Lanvin & Monteiro, 2022). Specifically, rural communities, particularly in remote areas of East Malaysia, continue to face significant challenges in accessing high-speed Internet as it remains largely confined to urban areas. As a result, the poor Internet connection has restricted students and educators from fully participating in virtual learning and teaching in these areas, widening the education gap between rural and urban areas in Malaysia (Supramani, 2020; The Sun Daily, 2022). However, the Communications and Digital Minister has recently announced plans to improve the ICT infrastructure in rural areas by utilising advanced technologies, such as satellite and "White Space" radio frequencies, to improve internet accessibility in these underserved regions (Malay Mail, 2023). Besides that, as of September 2022, Malaysia has successfully rolled out 5G networks in eight states, including Kuala Lumpur, Putrajaya, Selangor, Negri Sembilan, Melaka, Johor, Penang, and Sabah (Hanif, 2022). By March 2023, Malaysia had achieved 5G coverage in 55% of its urban areas. Moving forward, the country aims to expand 5G coverage to 80% of its major towns before 2024 (Ignatius, 2023). However, 5G deployment progress in remote areas is expected to be much slower due to geographical challenges and lower population density. The costs and efforts may

hinder authorities from establishing the necessary ICT infrastructure for deploying 5G networks in these areas (Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Commission, 2023; Teoh, 2023).

In brief, although substantial efforts and investments have been made to develop and enhance infostructure in the country, Malaysia still faces hurdles in ensuring universal access to high-speed internet connection and 5G networks. Therefore, more effort is required to improve ICT infrastructure, such that it helps address the urban-rural digital divide, promote inclusive digital transformation, and consequently promote socio-economic development across the country.

#### **3.6 Intellectual Capital**

To foster innovation and enhance a country's economic competitiveness, it is essential to cultivate a diverse pool of talent equipped with specialised knowledge, innovation capabilities, technical competencies, and leadership skills. Malaysia has a diverse and multilingual workforce that helps to catalyse international partnerships, attracts multinational corporations, and instils confidence among foreign investors (Khalid, 2022; MIDA, 2021a). For example, in 2012, Huawei established its first overseas training centre in Cyberjaya, strategically capitalising on the diverse linguistic capabilities of the local workforce to deliver training programs to their stakeholders in the English language (MIDA, 2021a). This training centre has successfully equipped over 10,000 individuals in Malaysia's ICT sector with the latest technological knowledge and skills in 5G and cloud computing (MIDA, 2021a). Other than that, Malaysia is home to 20 public universities, 53 private universities, and over 1,400 technical and vocational education and training colleges (TVET), collectively contributing to a skilled workforce across various industries in Malaysia (MIDA, 2022a). Despite possessing a wealth of educational institutions, merely 35% of the workforce hold a tertiary degree,

whereas 67% have completed secondary education (Lanvin & Monteiro, 2022). This indicates that only one-third of the labour force in Malaysia is composed of highly skilled workers, posing significant challenges to the country's innovation and economic growth (Lanvin & Monteiro, 2022).

According to the Global Talent Competitiveness Index (GTCI), Malaysia's ranking on talent competitiveness has fallen by 11 spots, from 34<sup>th</sup> in 2021 to 45<sup>th</sup> in 2022 (Lanvin & Monteiro, 2021, 2022). GTCI is assessed based on two key pillars: the Input model and the Output model. The Input model focuses on a country's capacity to attract, grow, retain, and enable talent. Meanwhile, the Output model measures the quality of talent produced as a result of the initiatives outlined in the Input model, specifically in terms of Vocational and Technical Skills (mid-level skills) and Global Knowledge Skills (high-level skills) (Lanvin & Monteiro, 2022). Malaysia's decline in GTCI ranking can be primarily attributed to "a dramatic drop in business sentiment" (Lanvin & Monteiro, 2022, p. 40). For instance, the private sector has observed a decline in employability among the workforce in Malaysia due to the presence of a significant skills gap (Lanvin & Monteiro, 2022). This skills gap is a critical factor impacting the "Vocational and Technical Skills" aspect of the GTCI model. In other words, it indicates a severe mismatch between the technical skills possessed by the workforce and the specific skills required by industrial sectors in Malaysia (Lanvin & Monteiro, 2022). Consequently, this has led to a high unemployment rate among graduates (Muhamad, 2023; Singh, 2022). As evidence, nearly 20% of local graduates face challenges securing employment within six months after graduation (Ho, 2021). This highlights the need for further improvement in the country's Technical and Vocational Education and Training (TVET) systems.

In addition to skills gaps, there has been a substantial decline in the Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) enrolment in schools and higher education institutions in Malaysia (New Straits Times, 2020, 2021). As evidence, the percentage of students pursuing pure science within the STEM field stood at 20.5% as of 2020, far below the expected 60% STEM enrolment rate in the country (New Straits Times, 2021). This worrisome situation poses significant challenges in building a talent pool needed in STEM-related industries, ultimately hindering the country's science, technology, and innovation (STI) development and negatively impacting its global competitiveness (New Straits Times, 2021). Furthermore, Malaysia is also experiencing a shortage of digital talent with the appropriate digital tech skills and knowledge, which can slow down digital transformation in the country (Jaafar, 2021; The Edge Malaysia, 2022). According to the 2022 Digital Talent Insight report by Huawei (2022), this shortage can be partially attributed to local institutions excessively prioritising niche courses based on their perspectives of current trends without taking into account in-demand digital skills in the global economy. Consequently, graduates in specialised fields like cybersecurity or software development often struggle to secure relevant internships in the job market (Huawei, 2022). As such, continuous upskilling and reskilling are essential to ensure that the workforce stays abreast of the constantly evolving digital trends, thereby bridging the digital skills gap in Malaysia (The Edge Malaysia, 2022).

Overall, despite the presence of numerous educational institutions in Malaysia, significant efforts are still required to develop and nurture industry-ready talent in the country. Minimising skills mismatch and achieving a high STEM enrolment rate are crucial to improving Malaysia's ranking in the Global Talent Competitiveness Index. By building a strong talent pool equipped with relevant skills and knowledge, Malaysia can effectively cultivate an innovation-driven, knowledge-based economy, strengthening its competitiveness in the global economic landscape.

### 3.7 Incentives

Fiscal and non-fiscal incentives are pivotal in stimulating socio-economic development in a country. Effective allocation and implementation of incentives, such as grants, subsidies, tax breaks, exemptions, and deductions, can help catalyse research and development initiatives, promote a knowledge-sharing culture among key players, drive the growth of the green economy, foster the adoption of digital technologies, and attract foreign investors to boost economic growth and nurture a strong talent pool in the nation. These incentives can help cultivate the country's Science, Technology, Innovation, and Economy (STIE) ecosystem.

In terms of R&D incentives, the Ministry of Energy, Science, Technology, Environment & Climate Change (MESTECC) has introduced the MESTECC Research & Development Fund to promote R&D and commercialisation of research outcomes in areas such as water-food-energy nexus, green growth for sustainable development, and medical and healthcare (MIDA, 2019). Specifically, this research fund intends to foster a knowledgesharing culture by strengthening cross-collaboration between local industry players (mainly small and medium companies), higher education institutions, public research institutions, and government agencies (MIDA, 2019). Funding will be determined based on each application's merits and potential impacts, up to a maximum limit of RM3,000,000.00 over 24 months (MIDA 2019). In addition to local R&D efforts, MESTECC has established the International Collaboration Fund (ICF) to foster international R&D efforts and collaboration among local and foreign researchers on science, technology, and innovation (STI) projects across different sectors. This includes computer science and ICT, biotechnology, engineering and technology, agriculture and forestry, as well as medical and health sciences. In particular, researchers who meet specific qualifications are eligible for funding up to RM500,000 for a maximum of 24 months (MIDA, 2019). Working alongside international researchers enables Malaysia to tap into its specialised skills and knowledge to strengthen local R&D capabilities and boost its global competitiveness.

To expedite the transition towards a green economy, more incentives are introduced under the revised national Budget 2023 to accelerate the adoption of electric vehicles (EV) to effectively reduce carbon emissions in Malaysia (The Star, 2023b). To incentivise the local assembly and sale of EVs, the government has extended the deadlines for various tax exemptions. For example, an extension of two years has been granted for the exemption of import duty on components used in locally assembled EVs and exemptions on sales tax for locally assembled EVs and excise duty for imported EVs (Wong, 2023). In addition, EV owners in Malaysia enjoy several benefits, including road tax exemption and a personal income tax exemption of up to RM 2,500 for expenses associated with EV charging equipment and services (Koty, 2022). These incentives drive Malaysia closer to achieving its Low Carbon Nation Aspiration target of the New Energy Policy (2022 - 2040), aiming to have electric vehicles (EVs) accounting for 38% of the total industry volume by 2040 (MIDA, 2021b). Other than that, in line with the Green Technology Master Plan 2017-2030, various Green Technology Tax Incentives (GTTI) have also been initiated to encourage the adoption of green technologies by industry players (Voon & Chong, 2022). GTTI comprises two broad categories of green incentives: 1) Green Investment Tax Allowance (GITA)<sup>6</sup>, which offers tax allowance for companies with qualifying green technology assets (e.g., EV charging equipment, biomass gas engines, plastic recycling machines, etc.) and projects (e.g., biomass, geothermal, solar power, etc.) for business purposes; and 2) Green Income Tax Exemption (GITE)<sup>7</sup>, which is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Companies qualified for GITA are given a 100% investment tax allowance for capital expenditures related to eligible green activities over an extended period of time, with a maximum deduction of 70% from statutory earnings (Voon & Chong, 2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Companies approved for GITE can enjoy a 70% income tax exemption on their statutory income for a duration ranging from three to ten years (Voon & Chong, 2022).

available for green technology service providers and investors of solar photovoltaic systems (Voon & Chong, 2022). These green incentives highlight the government's commitment to propelling the nation toward a green economy.

To accelerate digital transformation in Malaysia, the government launched the Digital Ecosystem Acceleration (DESAC) scheme in 2021, aiming to provide a wide variety of incentives to digital technology providers (DTPs)<sup>8</sup> (e.g., cloud computing services) and digital infrastructure providers (DIPs)<sup>9</sup> (e.g., data centres) in the country (Malaysia Digital Chamber of Commerce [MDCC], 2021). By offering these incentives, the government aims to foster digital adoption across various sectors in Malaysia, attract foreign investments in digital projects, and establish a strong value chain within the local digital economy, which simultaneously helps generate ample high-skilled employment opportunities in Malaysia (MIDA, 2022b). Besides that, several tax incentives have also been introduced to attract FDI in the local manufacturing sector. For example, foreign investors who commit a minimum capital investment of RM300 million become eligible for a tax holiday lasting between 10 and 15 years (Bernama, 2021). Doing so facilitates technology transfer and promotes a knowledge-sharing culture in the local manufacturing sector, ultimately bringing Malaysia up the global value chains.

As can be seen, Malaysia's dedication to building a robust STIE ecosystem is exemplified through various fiscal and non-fiscal incentives. This proactive approach not only expedites R&D and innovation but also promotes green growth and digital transformation, as well as attracting high-value FDI into the country. That is to say, these incentives allow

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> DTPs are entitled to an income tax rate of up to 10% (MDCC, 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> DIPs are granted a 100% investment tax allowance on capital expenditures, which can be used to offset up to 100% of the statutory income for a maximum period of ten years (MDCC, 2021).

Malaysia to position itself as a forward-thinking country while also reaping the economic benefits that come with sustainable practices.

#### **3.8 Internationalization**

Internationalisation enables countries to expand their market share and increase global outreach. This facilitates technology and knowledge exchange among countries while building a more substantial presence in worldwide value chains to strengthen their economic competitiveness.

Malaysia has been proactive in signing various regional and international free trade agreements (FTAs) to reduce trade barriers with member countries, improve trade flows and market access, and enhance economic integration with other countries (Abu & Bahari, 2020). Similar to Singapore and Brunei, Malaysia is a member of both the Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans-Pacific Partnership (CPTPP) and the Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership (RCEP) (Abu & Bahari, 2020). Officially ratified by the Malaysian government on September 30, 2022, the CPTPP enables Malaysia to have preferential access to the markets of the ten other member countries, including Australia, Brunei, Canada, Chile, Japan, Mexico, New Zealand, Peru, Singapore, and Vietnam (Fox, 2022). Besides eliminating 95% of tariffs between the 11 member states, the CPTPP is predicted to elevate Malaysia's overall trade from US\$481 billion in 2021 to US\$655.9 billion in 2030 (Fox, 2022). This international partnership will also help attract foreign investors and cultivate a larger pool of highly skilled talent within Malaysia, thereby enhancing the country's economic competitiveness in the global market (MIDA, 2022c). On the other hand, the RCEP grants Malaysia access to 30% of the world's population (Petri & Plummer, 2020) and is projected to increase the country's total export revenue by an estimated US\$200 million (Ians, 2022). Specifically, it offers Malaysia's Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) the

opportunity to benefit from reduced trade tariffs and expanded regional supply chains, strengthening their competitive advantage in the global economy (SME Corp Malaysia, 2022). In addition to FTAs, Malaysia also benefits from the ASEAN Economic Community (AEC), which provides opportunities for cross-border investment and collaboration, regulatory harmonisation of standards, and talent exchange across the ASEAN region (Abu & Bahari, 2020).

Besides that, Malaysia has the highest level of participation in global value chains (GVCs) among the middle-income ASEAN countries, exceeding the ASEAN average and second only to Singapore. It has similar levels of involvement in both the backward (29%) (foreign value added) and forward linkages (36%) (domestic value added) of the GVCs (ASEAN-Japan Centre, 2019; Lim & Tng, 2017). Due to its domestic inputs and capabilities in developing technology, Malaysia plays a crucial role in producing and exporting electrical and electronic (E&E) components at both regional and international levels, accounting for more than 30% of the country's domestic value-added (DVA) exports (ASEAN-Japan Centre, 2021). Specifically, Malaysia's key trading partners for E&E exports involve Singapore, Hong Kong, the USA, China, Japan, and Europe (MIDA, 2021c). With ongoing efforts to attract high-value foreign investments, Malaysia's E&E sector is projected to contribute approximately RM120 billion to the nation's GDP and generate export earnings of about RM495 billion by 2025 (New Straits Times, 2022). Due to its strength in the E&E sector, Malaysia has emerged as a global production hub for E&E multinational corporations (MNCs), such as Texas Instruments, Intel, Bosch, and Osram. This achievement can also be attributed to the country's strategic location in the heart of the ASEAN region, its business-friendly environment, and its skilled, multilingual workforce (MIDA, 2021c; Zulkifli, 2022). In addition, other MNCs like VINCI Construction and Oleon Sdn Bhd have also established partnerships with local universities to drive R&D and innovation activities in Malaysia, aiming to advance the innovation-driven, knowledge-based economy of the country (Zulkifli, 2022). In essence, the presence of these MNCs has brought multiple advantages to the country, including the creation of ample high-value job opportunities, the transfer of specialised knowledge and cutting-edge technology, the development of a highly skilled workforce, and the expansion of local supply chains (MIDA, 2021c; Zulkifli, 2022).

Although Malaysia has established a strong presence in the GVCs due to its great potential in the E&E manufacturing sector, small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in the country have yet to fully capitalise on this potential and maximise export sales through this channel. Therefore, the total SMEs' export volumes remain limited, hindering their ability to scale up their businesses and remain competitive in the global market (Ministry of Economy Malaysia, 2023). This can be attributed to various factors, such as the SMEs' limited capacity and immaturity with exporting, limited access to overseas markets, a lack of innovative products and services suitable for export, and non-compliance with global standards (Ministry of Economic Affairs, 2018). Therefore, Malaysia must address the challenges that prevent SMEs from actively participating in global value chains. One effective approach would be establishing partnerships with multinational corporations and adhering to internationally recognised standards (Zulkifli, 2022). Overall, although Malaysia's proactive approach to internationalisation has enabled it to become a competitive player in the global economy, more effort is necessary to expand the local economic value chain and move Malaysia further up the global value chains, ultimately accelerating the country's socio-economic growth.

## 4.0 Summary Evaluation

Summing up, although Malaysia has achieved significant social and economic growth progress, several areas still warrant further improvement through concentrated efforts. First,

Malaysia's political environment has been unstable due to frequent changes in government. However, with the election of a new government, it is optimistic that the country can progress toward a more transparent and accountable governance system. Such a system can enhance investor confidence and foster socio-economic growth. Besides that, there is an absence of a robust collaborative ecosystem involving government agencies, industry players, universities, and research institutes. This lack of cooperation hinders the development of smart partnerships, crucial for high-value-added economic activities that can move Malaysia up the global value chains. Moreover, there is a significant urban-rural divide in infrastructure development, with most investments directed towards improving and building high-quality physical and ICT infrastructure in urban areas, resulting in a lagging rural development.

Besides, STEM enrolment in Malaysia has been relatively low in recent years, raising concerns about the availability of skilled workers for STEM industries. This shortage can negatively impact the country's economic development and competitiveness in the global value chains. Skills mismatch is another significant challenge that warrants further attention in Malaysia's job market. Despite having a degree or qualification, many young graduates in the country face difficulty finding employment due to a mismatch between their skill sets and the job market demands. Addressing this issue is crucial to reducing the unemployment rate among youth in Malaysia, which is also vital for the country's economic growth. In light of the challenges mentioned above, there is a need for Malaysia to take further steps and implement effective strategies to improve its political climate and socio-economic growth, which is essential to realising its vision of becoming a high-income nation. The following section presents several recommendations based on the issues and challenges identified within the 8i ecosystem of Malaysia.

### 5.0 Recommendations

To strengthen national resilience and promote more inclusive and sustainable socio-economic growth, there is an urgent need to address the challenges and shortcomings that have been identified from the 8i ecosystem analysis of Malaysia. With this, this paper puts forth four recommendations, as presented below.

# Recommendation 1: Strengthen institutional leadership and stewardship to oversee the efficient implementation of plans and policies and enforce rules.

It is crucial to put in place a number of essential measures in order to establish a robust governance system. Firstly, appointing political leaders based solely on qualifications should be prioritised over personal ties or networks. This approach ensures that only individuals possessing relevant merits and expertise are assigned key leadership positions, leading to improved decision-making and bureaucratic performance.

To build public trust in the government, it is necessary to adopt and impose more stringent regulations and laws, which help tackle corruption and the misuse of power. Although establishing stringent laws is important, without strict enforcement, laws become mere words on paper, lacking the power to maintain order and protect rights. Hence, the government must allocate resources, develop competent enforcement agencies, and implement mechanisms that ensure the enforcement of laws to uphold integrity, transparency, and accountability.

Furthermore, it is imperative to devise realistic and practical strategies and policies to ensure the successful execution of plans. This involves ensuring the availability of necessary resources and budgets as well as setting feasible timelines and action plans that can help efficiently achieve the intended targets and goals. Lastly, harmonising the envisioned goals with the formulated strategies is also pivotal to achieving timely and successful outcomes. This requires effective communication and coordination among all relevant stakeholders, along with a dedicated commitment to the devised goals and strategies.

# Recommendation 2: Establish a robust collaborative ecosystem involving government agencies, industry players, universities, and research institutions in the country.

There is a need to strengthen further the Whole-of-Government approach to improve cooperation and coordination among government bodies in Malaysia. Whole-of-Government is a collaborative approach involving multiple government agencies working together to develop policies and deliver public services towards achieving shared and interdependent goals (Christensen & Lægreid, 2007). Strong institutional leadership and stewardship are essential in ensuring an effective Whole-of-Government (United Nations, n.d.). In other words, a capable political leader plays a pivotal role in establishing a clear direction and mobilising other political constituents toward shared goals, ultimately leading to the seamless and efficient implementation of policies. Besides that, it is important to establish a special committee that can oversee and effectively coordinate the roles of various ministries, streamlining their functions and avoiding duplication of efforts. Doing so can ensure optimal resource allocation across multiple government agencies, thereby improving efficiency at all levels of government (local, provincial, and national) (Basyir, 2021; United Nations, n.d.).

In addition, a more effective Whole-of-Society approach is needed to create a robust collaborative ecosystem that brings together various stakeholders from different sectors (e.g., government agencies, industry players, research institutes, higher education institutions, etc.) in Malaysia to work together towards a common goal. This involves promoting strategic and smart partnerships that feature knowledge and technology transfer activities, which are crucial to driving research and innovation in the country. First, it is of utmost importance for relevant stakeholders to establish shared goals based on common interests and demonstrate strong

commitments to achieve them. In doing so, stakeholders can leverage each other's expertise and resources to achieve common objectives. Further, to promote long-term and effective multi-stakeholder collaboration, the Malaysian government can establish an enabling environment with a streamlined administrative procedure that promotes smart partnerships in the nation (Kindornay & Kocaata, 2019; Tan, 2021). This may involve the creation of dedicated platforms and initiatives to facilitate knowledge and technology transfer activities between stakeholders (Tan, 2021). The government can also develop and enhance existing regulatory frameworks and policies to further incentivise collaboration and partnerships across sectors in the country (Kindornay & Kocaata, 2019). Most importantly, the effective implementation of policies and execution of action plans is the key to achieving a robust collaborative ecosystem that can truly drive innovation and economic growth in the country.

# Recommendation 3: Improve infra- and infostructure in rural areas to promote more inclusive socio-economic development in Malaysia.

Instead of prioritising infra- and infostructure development in urban areas, there is an equal need to invest in enhancing existing infrastructure and building high-quality infrastructure, such as paved roads, healthcare centres, educational institutions, reliable electricity and water supply, and advanced ICT infrastructure in rural regions across Malaysia. Although substantial efforts have been made to improve the infra- and infostructure in rural areas of Malaysia, there is still considerable room for improvement. For example, more budgets and funding should be allocated for infrastructure development in rural areas, as the existing budget allocation is deemed insufficient to implement planned infrastructure projects, especially in rural areas of Sarawak (Tuah et al., 2022). In addition, it is essential to improve collaboration between the state and federal authorities to avoid confusion and ensure uniform policy implementation. Such coordination is critical to prevent delays in infrastructure development in rural areas

(Tuah et al., 2022). Also, simplifying bureaucratic procedures can further facilitate the timely execution of projects (Goh, 2022). Other than that, there is also a need for the private sector to cooperate with the government in developing rural infrastructure. To this end, the private sector can play a vital role by allowing the government to utilise logging roads for transporting materials required for rural infrastructure development (Tuah et al., 2022). Lastly, engaging local communities in planning and developing infrastructure in rural areas is also important to ensure that their needs and concerns are adequately addressed. Doing so helps create mutually beneficial outcomes where rural livelihoods are not negatively impacted while infrastructure is being developed (Tuah et al., 2022). Improving info- and infrastructure development in rural areas allows residents to access essential services and opportunities vital to their well-being. Moreover, access to such infrastructures also provides rural residents with greater opportunities to set up new businesses and lower the poverty rate in these areas, ultimately improving their overall quality of life and contributing to inclusive economic growth in the country.

## Recommendation 4: Promote Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) enrolment and address skills mismatch to help bridge the skills gap in the labour market.

Educational institutions and industry players can implement several strategies to enhance the STEM enrolment rate in the country. Firstly, raising awareness about STEM careers is crucial to inspiring and attracting more students. This can be achieved via social media advertising, career fairs, STEM career awareness programs, and marketing campaigns targeted at youths. Secondly, creating a conducive and engaging learning environment for STEM subjects is also essential to nurture students' interest in STEM fields. This entails providing high-quality teaching materials and well-equipped laboratories to facilitate seamless practical lab work. In addition, cutting-edge technology and innovative teaching methods that bring "real-world"

experiences into the classroom can also help foster a conducive STEM learning environment. Thirdly, offering scholarships and STEM internship opportunities may also effectively incentivise enrolment in STEM courses. Such opportunities can provide students with ample hands-on experience in various STEM industries, thereby fostering their interests in STEM fields.

To address skill mismatches in the job market, educational institutions must work closely with industry players to ensure that the curriculum aligns with the current needs of the labour market (Muhamad, 2023; The Star, 2023c). This necessitates consistent evaluation and revision of course materials to keep pace with the latest industry trends and best practices (Meta, 2022), as well as the involvement of industry experts in teaching and mentoring students through micro-credential training programs to provide them with technical skills and practical knowledge (Muhamad, 2023). Furthermore, there is also a pressing need to promote workbased learning (e.g., apprenticeship, traineeship, internship, etc.) as an integral part of the teaching module in higher education institutions in Malaysia, as it enables students to acquire specific skills and knowledge needed by the industrial sectors. By equipping students with the necessary skills to meet the ever-changing demands of the job market, they will be better equipped to enter the workforce. This, in turn, improves their employability and can ultimately help address skills mismatch in the labour market (The Star, 2022). Lastly, employers also play an essential role in providing their employees with regular on-the-job training and upskilling opportunities. These training opportunities enable employees to stay competitive in their current roles while preparing for future career opportunities, thereby helping bridge the skills gap in the labour market (Meta, 2022).

## 6.0 References

Abu, S. A. L., & Bahari, S. (2020). International regulatory cooperation in Malaysia –
Regulatory interoperability through regional and multilateral linkages. In G. Derek (Ed.), *Interconnected government: International regulatory cooperation in ASEAN* (pp. 133-151). Economic Research Institute for ASEAN and East Asia.

Adam, A. (2022). MP: Lack of coordination between ministries over foreign worker recruitment risks damaging Malaysia's economic recovery. https://malaysia.news.yahoo.com/mp-lack-coordination-between-ministries-092436937.html?guccounter=1&guce\_referrer=aHR0cHM6Ly93d3cuZ29vZ2xlLmN vbS8&guce\_referrer\_sig=AQAAACNYtLTXyFGtaNT48CSjp9rYGNPwpW6SjW91 g1YxDkrSXmuWr6x792\_Z0hsk75J28mKRn5jMEQAP\_Z1iCB0hMPZG2JAA\_RAi mGmq6o3FC5RV5GOOs-

 $\underline{qwTiBbxpNKhmujeIDq3zs19FxF6Ac8v6U5WepE0UcoR3BSEQIxEp1L5Y1}$ 

- Adilla, F. (2022, June 24). Malaysia nears full internet connectivity. New *Straits Times*. <u>https://www.nst.com.my/business/2022/06/807764/malaysia-nears-full-internet-</u> connectivity
- Aiman, A. (2021). With UPSR scrapped, rural schools need better facilities. *Free Malaysia Today*. <u>https://www.freemalaysiatoday.com/category/nation/2021/05/07/with-upsr-scrapped-rural-schools-need-better-facilities/</u>

Al Syahid, M. I. (2023, April 9). *Language intelligence vital for Malaysia*. <u>https://www.thesundaily.my/opinion/language-intelligence-vital-for-malaysia-NK10838410</u>

- Anis, M. N. (2023, February 7). Improve services and reduce wait times for public, PM tells govt agencies. *The Star*.
   <u>https://www.thestar.com.my/news/nation/2023/02/07/improve-services-and-reduce-wait-times-for-public-pm-tells-govt-agencies</u>
- Ariff, I. (2021, December 23). Poor infrastructure behind high youth unemployment in
   Sabah. Free Malaysia Today.
   <a href="https://www.freemalaysiatoday.com/category/nation/2021/12/23/poor-infrastructure-behind-high-youth-unemployment-in-sabah/">https://www.freemalaysiatoday.com/category/nation/2021/12/23/poor-infrastructure-behind-high-youth-unemployment-in-sabah/</a>
- ASEAN-Japan Centre. (2021). *Global value chains in ASEAN: Malaysia.* <u>https://www.asean.or.jp/ja/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/GVC\_Malaysia\_Paper-</u> 6 WEB full.pdf
- Aziz, F., & Vethasalam, R. (2022, July 4). PM launches Malaysia Digital initiative to replace MSC Malaysia. *The Star*. <u>https://www.thestar.com.my/news/nation/2022/07/04/pm-launches-malaysia-digital-initiative-to-replace-msc-malaysia</u>
- Basyir, M. (2021, September 27). Public service transformation via whole-of-government approach. *New Straits Times*.
   <u>https://www.nst.com.my/news/nation/2021/09/731242/public-service-transformation-whole-government-approach</u>
- Batumalai, K. (2020). 57 years later, Do Sarawak, Sabah enjoy equal health care to Peninsula? *CodeBlue*. <u>https://codeblue.galencentre.org/2020/09/16/57-years-later-do-sarawak-sabah-enjoy-equal-health-care-to-peninsula/</u>
- Bernama. (2021, February 28). Malaysia offers incentives to attract investors, more strategic ones to be announced, says Muhyiddin.

https://www.bernama.com/en/business/news\_pemerkasa.php?id=1936086#:~:text=On %20top%20of%20that%2C%20the,of%20RM300%20million%20or%20more.

- Birruntha S. (2022, December 28). Transportation sector in 2022. *The Malaysian Reserve*. <u>https://themalaysianreserve.com/2022/12/28/transportation-sector-in-2022/</u>
- Biswas, R. (2023). Malaysia records buoyant GDP growth in 2022. S&P Global Market Intelligence. <u>https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/mi/research-analysis/malaysia-records-buoyant-gdp-growth-in-2022-feb23.html#:~:text=Malaysian%20economy%20rebounds%20in%202022,(q%2Fq)%20basis.</u>
- BTI. (2022). Malaysia country report 2022. <u>https://bti-project.org/en/reports/country-</u> report/MYS
- Business Today. (2021, December 28). Positioning Malaysia as the heart of investments in ASEAN. https://www.businesstoday.com.my/2021/12/28/positioning-malaysia-as-theheart-of-investments-in-asean/
- Business Today. (2023, January 18). *Ministry to cut red tapes and make doing business* easier in Malaysia. <u>https://www.businesstoday.com.my/2023/01/18/ministry-to-cut-</u> red-tapes-and-make-doing-business-easier-in-malaysia/
- Christensen, T., & Lægreid, P. (2007). The whole-of-government approach to public sector reform. *Public administration review*, *67*(6), 1059-1066.
- Chu, M. M. (2022). Factbox: How Malaysia's election system works. <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/how-malaysias-election-system-works-</u> <u>2022-10-20/</u>

Daniele, U. (2023, January 29). Malaysia gets 3 metres of rainfall a year yet millions don't have enough clean drinking water. Why? *South China Morning Post.* <u>https://www.scmp.com/week-asia/health-environment/article/3208217/malaysia-gets-</u>3-metres-rainfall-year-yet-millions-dont-have-enough-clean-drinking-water-why

Dayak Daily. (2022, October 13). Sarawak aligned to become hydrogen hub in Asian region. https://dayakdaily.com/sarawak-aligned-to-become-hydrogen-hub-in-asian-region/

Department of Statistics Malaysia. (2019). *Household income & basic amenities survey* report 2019. <u>https://www.dosm.gov.my/portal-main/release-content/household-</u> income-&-basic-amenities-survey-report-2019#:~:text=Median%20monthly%20household%20disposable%20income,of%20tot al%20mean%20gross%20income.

Department of Statistics Malaysia. (2022). *Key statistics of labour force in Malaysia, September 2022*. <u>https://www.dosm.gov.my/portal-main/release-content/key-</u> <u>statistics-of-labour-force-in-malaysia-september-2022</u>

Falcon, D. J. (2019). The health care gap in rural Malaysia. Perspectives on Business and Economics, 37, 28-36. <u>https://preserve.lehigh.edu/perspectives-v37/6</u>

Fazaniza, E. (2021, July 5). *Lack of coordination leads to inconsistencies, confusion*. <u>https://www.thesundaily.my/home/lack-of-coordination-leads-to-inconsistencies-confusion-YA8031625</u>

Fox, J. (2022, November 2). Malaysia's ratification of CPTPP to help increase trade. *ASEAN* Briefing. <u>https://www.aseanbriefing.com/news/malaysias-ratification-of-cptpp-to-help-increase-</u> trade/#:~:text=What%20does%20the%20CPTPP%20mean,Free%20Trade%20Agree
ment%20(FTA).

Freedom House. (2022). Freedom in the world.

https://freedomhouse.org/country/malaysia/freedom-world/2022

- Goh, P. P. (2022, January 25). Reduce red-tape to expedite projects, says Sarawak CM. New Straits Times. <u>https://www.nst.com.my/news/nation/2022/01/765964/reduce-red-tape-expedite-projects-says-sarawak-cm</u>
- Gomes, V. (2022, September 27). Catalysing Malaysia's digital economy. *The Edge Malaysia*. <u>https://www.theedgemarkets.com/article/catalysing-malaysias-digital-</u> <u>economy</u>
- Hanif, A. (2022, September 27). Malaysia's 5G rollout at 33%. *The Malaysian Reserve*. <u>https://themalaysianreserve.com/2022/09/27/malaysias-5g-rollout-at-33/</u>
- Harinderan, K. (2023, January 3). Malaysia's diversified economy will lower downturn impact amid slowing global growth, geopolitical tension: MIDA. *Business Today*. <u>https://www.businesstoday.com.my/2023/01/03/malaysias-diversified-economy-willlower-downturn-impact-amid-slowing-global-growth-geopolitical-tension-mida/</u>
- Ho, B. (2021). Are fresh graduates In Malaysia really career-ready? https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/fresh-graduates-malaysia-really-career-ready-ben-ho/

Huawei. (2022). 2022 Digital talent insight. <u>https://www-file.huawei.com/-</u> /media/corp2020/pdf/event/1/2022 digital talent insight asia%20pacific.pdf?la=en

Human Rights Watch. (2021). Malaysia: Free speech under increasing threat.

https://www.hrw.org/news/2021/05/19/malaysia-free-speech-under-increasing-threat

- Ians. (2022, March 19). RCEP: World's largest trade deal comes into effect in Malaysia. <u>https://www.business-standard.com/article/international/rcep-world-s-largest-trade-</u> deal-comes-into-effect-in-malaysia-122031800548 1.html
- Ibrahim, J. (2023, March 8). Zero tolerance against corruption, says Anwar on unity govt's policy. *The Star*. <u>https://www.thestar.com.my/news/nation/2023/03/08/zero-tolerance-against-corruption-says-anwar-on-unity-govts-policy</u>
- Ignatius, C. (2023, April 10). 25% more to go to achieve year-end target of 80% 5G coverage. *Business Today*. <u>https://www.businesstoday.com.my/2023/04/10/25-more-to-go-to-achieve-year-end-target-of-80-5g-coverage/</u>
- International Trade Administration. (2023). Malaysia digital economy.

https://www.trade.gov/market-intelligence/malaysia-digital-economy-0

- Ismail, M. H. Bin, Salleh, M. F. M., & Nasir, N. A. M. (2019). The issues and challenges in empowering STEM on science teachers in Malaysian secondary schools. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 9(13), 430–444.
- Jaafar, F. (2021). Malaysia must develop digital talent pool to stay competitive. *The Malaysian Reserve*. <u>https://themalaysianreserve.com/2021/11/05/malaysia-must-</u> <u>develop-digital-talent-pool-to-stay-competitive/</u></u>
- Jamal, U. (2021, January 16). Malaysia missed its Vision 2020 goal of industrialization: What went wrong? *ASEAN Today*. <u>https://www.aseantoday.com/2021/01/malaysia-missed-its-vision-2020-goal-of-industrialization-what-went-wrong/</u>
- Khalid, S. (2022, March 24). Multilingual and multicultural talent, pro-business government help instil confidence among investors, says InvestKL CEO. *The Edge Malaysia*.

https://theedgemalaysia.com/article/multilingual-and-multicultural-talent-probusinessgovernment-help-instil-confidence-among

- Khazanah Research Institute. (2020). Social inequalities and health in Malaysia: The state of households 2020 part III. <u>https://www.krinstitute.org/Publications-@-</u> <u>Social Inequalities and Health in Malaysia.aspx</u>
- Kindornay, S., & Kocaata, Z. (2019). A whole-of-society approach: Partnerships to realize the 2030 Agenda. Good Practice in 2030 Agenda Implementation Series. Vancouver and Ottawa: British Columbia Council for International Cooperation and Canadian Council for International Co-operation.
- Koty, A. C. (2022, June 8). Electric Vehicles in Malaysia: Tax incentives for owners and manufacturers. ASEAN Briefing. <u>https://www.aseanbriefing.com/news/electric-vehicles-in-malaysia-tax-incentives-for-owners-and-manufacturers/</u>
- Lanvin, B., & Monteiro, F. (2021). *The Global Talent Competitiveness Index 2021 Talent Competitiveness in Times of COVID.* Accenture.

https://www.insead.edu/sites/default/files/assets/dept/fr/gtci/GTCI-2021-Report.pdf

- Lanvin, B., & Monteiro, F. (2022). The Global Talent Competitiveness Index 2022 The tectonics of talent: Is the world drifting towards increased talent inequalities? Accenture. <u>https://www.insead.edu/sites/default/files/assets/dept/fr/gtci/GTCI-2022-</u> <u>report.pdf</u>
- Leong, M. (2018). Future of water industry in Malaysia, 2018. <u>https://www.frost.com/frost-perspectives/future-water-industry-malaysia-</u>

2018/#:~:text=Practice%2C%20Frost%20%26%20Sullivan-,Malaysia%20has%20one

%20of%20the%20most%20organised%20water%20infrastructures%2C%20with,wate r%20theft%2C%20and%20payment%20defaulters

- Lim H. E., Fauziah M. T., Abdullah, N. A. H., and Yen S. H. (2016). How efficient are Malaysian public universities? A comparative analysis using data envelopment analysis. *Asian Academy of Management Journal*, 21(2), 75–97.
   <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.21315/aamj2016.21.2.4">http://dx.doi.org/10.21315/aamj2016.21.2.4</a>
- Lim, M. H., & Tng, B. W. (2017). Global value chains and the drivers of exports in Malaysia. Bank Negara Malaysia.

https://www.bnm.gov.my/documents/20124/826874/Global+Value+Chains.pdf

- Lye, G. (2022). Sarawak set to become Malaysia's green hydrogen production, export hub by 2027 with H2biscus project. <u>https://paultan.org/2022/09/22/sarawak-set-to-become-malaysias-green-hydrogen-production-export-hub-by-2027-with-h2biscus-project/</u>
- Malay Mail. (2023). Fahmi: Internet access issue especially in rural areas to be resolved by June. <u>https://www.malaymail.com/news/malaysia/2023/03/07/fahmi-internet-access-issue-especially-in-rural-areas-to-be-resolved-by-june/58329</u>
- Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Commission. (2023). *Digital connectivity* -*Ensuring everyone gets connected: A glance at Malaysia's digital connectivity journey*. <u>https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf2/Insight-</u> <u>Digital-Connectivity.pdf</u>
- Maniam, G., Poh, P. E., Htar, T. T., Poon, W. C., & Chuah, L. H. (2021). Water literacy in the Southeast Asian context: Are we there yet?. *Water*, *13*(16), 2311.
- MDCC. (2021). Promoting digital ecosystem through tax incentives. https://mdcc.org.my/promoting-digital-ecosystem-through-tax-incentives/

- Meta, S. M. (2022). Critical literature review on bridging skills gap through development of professional courses: A remedy for unemployment crisis in Kenya. *Advances in Applied Sociology*, *12*, 415-422. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/aasoci.2022.129033</u>
- MIDA. (2019). *Malaysia: Investment in the services sector Research and development* (*R&D*) services. <u>https://www.mida.gov.my/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2020/07/20200309090703\_BOOKLET-3-RESEARCH-AND-</u> <u>DEVELOPMENT-RD-SERVICES.pdf</u>
- MIDA. (2021a). *Malaysia: Asia's centre of excellence*. <u>https://www.mida.gov.my/malaysia-asias-centre-of-excellence/</u>
- MIDA. (2021b). Malaysia's shift towards green mobility.

https://www.mida.gov.my/malaysias-shift-towards-green-mobility/

- MIDA. (2021c). *Malaysia's E&E industry*. <u>https://www.mida.gov.my/wp-</u> content/uploads/2020/12/E\_E-High-Res-FInal-2021.pdf
- MIDA. (2022a). Why Malaysia? Your profit centre in Asia. <u>https://www.mida.gov.my/wp-</u> content/uploads/2022/01/MIDA\_WHY-MALAYSIA-2022-NEW.pdf
- MIDA. (2022b). *Malaysia all geared up to become a hub for digital investments*. <u>https://www.mida.gov.my/malaysia-all-geared-up-to-become-a-hub-for-digital-investments/</u>
- MIDA. (2022c). *CPTPP to benefit consumers with competitive prices, quality.* <u>https://www.mida.gov.my/mida-news/cptpp-to-benefit-consumers-with-competitive-prices-quality/</u>

MIDA. (2023). Amazon Web Services (AWS) Announces RM25.5 billion investment to launch an AWS cloud computing infrastructure In Malaysia. <u>https://www.mida.gov.my/media-release/amazon-web-services-aws-announces-rm25-</u> 5-billion-investment-to-launch-an-aws-cloud-computing-infrastructure-in-malaysia/

Ministry of Economic Affairs. (2018). *Mid-term review of the eleventh Malaysia Plan 2016 – 2020: New priorities and emphases.* 

https://www.talentcorp.com.my/clients/TalentCorp\_2016\_7A6571AE-D9D0-4175-B35D-99EC514F2D24/contentms/img/publication/Mid-

Term%20Review%20of%2011th%20Malaysia%20Plan.pdf

Ministry of Economy Malaysia. (2023). *Mid-term review - Twelfth Malaysia Plan 2021 – 2025*. <u>https://rmke12.ekonomi.gov.my/ksp/bm/dokumen/mid-term-review-twelfth-malaysia-plan-by-chapter</u>

Ministry of Finance Malaysia. (2022). *Economic outlook 2022*. https://budget.mof.gov.my/pdf/2022/economy/economy-2022.pdf

Moh, J. (2022, January 24). Economists: Need to address skills mismatch. *The Sun Daily*. <u>https://www.thesundaily.my/business/economists-need-to-address-skills-mismatch-JN8791658</u>

- Mordor Intelligence. (2023). *Malaysia oil and gas pipeline market growth, trends, Covid-19 impact, and forecasts (2023 - 2028)*. <u>https://www.mordorintelligence.com/industry-</u> reports/malaysia-oil-and-gas-pipeline-market
- Muhamad, S. (2023, April 11). FMM: Nation not ready for food security as mismatch exists between graduate skills and industry needs. *The Edge Malaysia*.

https://theedgemalaysia.com/node/662958

Nair, M. (2011). Inclusive innovation and sustainable development: leap-frogging strategies to a high-income economy. *ICT Strategic Review*, 2012, 225-257.

 Nair, M., Ahmed, P. K., & Vaithilingam, S. (2022). Values-Based Development and Competitiveness: A Conceptual Analysis. (No. 2022-001 PB; IGSC Policy Brief).
 Sunway Institute for Global Strategy and Competitiveness.

New Straits Times. (2021, October 29). Malaysia's performance in government effectiveness is above regional peers. <u>https://www.nst.com.my/news/nation/2021/10/740937/malaysias-performance-government-effectiveness-above-regional-peers</u>

New Straits Times. (2022, December 6). *E&E sector to generate RM495 billion in export earnings by 2025: MIDA*. <u>https://www.nst.com.my/business/2022/12/858313/ee-</u> sector-generate-rm495-billion-export-earnings-2025-mida

Parliament of Malaysia. (2023). *Parliamentary Democracy System in Malaysia*. https://www.parlimen.gov.my/maklumat-umum.html?uweb=dr&lang=en

Petri, P. A., & Plummer, M. (2020). RCEP: A new trade agreement that will shape global economics and politics. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/blog/order-from-</u> <u>chaos/2020/11/16/rcep-a-new-trade-agreement-that-will-shape-global-economics-andpolitics/</u>

Rajaendram, R. (2022, January 20). We can't work in silos. *The Star*. https://www.thestar.com.my/news/education/2022/01/30/we-cant-work-in-silos

Ramli, N. F., & Talib, O. (2017). Can education institution implement STEM? From Malaysian teachers' view. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business* and Social Sciences, 7(3), 721-732. https://hrmars.com/papers\_submitted/2772/Can\_Education\_Institution\_Implement\_S TEM From Malaysian Teachers%E2%80%99 View.pdf

Razak, R. (2023, January 31). Corruption Perception Index: Malaysia records worst score in a decade but goes up one spot. *Malay Mail*.

https://www.malaymail.com/news/malaysia/2023/01/31/corruption-perception-indexmalaysia-records-worst-score-in-a-decade-but-goes-up-one-spot/52725

Reuters. (2023). *Malaysia – Driven by digital evolution*. <u>https://www.reuters.com/plus/malaysia-driven-by-digital-evolution</u>

- Rongen, G., Lanjouw, P., & Simler, K. (2021). Trends in Malaysian poverty and income dynamics: do regional inequalities trump ethnic disparities? https://www.worldbank.org/en/events/2021/03/18/EAPCE210325poverty#1
- Shamsunahar, I. (2021). *Malaysia's emergency ordinance and the clampdown on public discourse*. <u>https://www.ideas.org.my/malaysias-emergency-ordinance-and-the-clampdown-on-public-discourse/</u>
- Sharon, A. (2023). New Cloud Infrastructure Launched in Malaysia. OpenGov Asia. https://opengovasia.com/new-cloud-infrastructure-launched-in-malaysia/

Sinar Daily. (2023, April 1). Separating roles of AG, public prosecutor will increase public confidence in judiciary – Experts. <u>https://www.sinardaily.my/article/193127/malaysia/national/separating-roles-of-ag-</u> public-prosecutor-will-increase-public-confidence-in-judiciary---experts

Singh, R. (2022, April 1). Skills mismatch blamed for huge graduate unemployment. *The Sun Daily*. <u>https://www.thesundaily.my/local/skills-mismatch-blamed-for-huge-graduate-unemployment-EX9022789</u>

- SME Corp Malaysia. (2022). Insight Ride the RCEP train or be left behind, SMEs told. https://www.smecorp.gov.my/index.php/en/resources/2015-12-21-10-55-22/news/4586-insight-ride-the-rcep-train-or-be-left-behind-smes-told
- Statista. (2022). Land surface in the ASEAN region in 2018, by country. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1011862/asean-land-surface-country/
- Statista. (2023). Share of population in Malaysia from 2019 to 2022, by ethnicity. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1017372/malaysia-breakdown-of-population-byethnicity/#:~:text=Breakdown%20of%20population%20Malaysia%202019%2D2022 %2C%20by%20ethnicity&text=As%20of%20July%202022%2C%2069.9,are%20clas sified%20as%20' Other
- Supramani, S. (2020, November 4). Internet still not available to many. *The Sun Daily*. <u>https://www.thesundaily.my/local/internet-still-not-available-to-many-II4974758</u>
- Tan, Z. Y. (2021, March 15). Government should enable a conducive environment for digitalisation. *The Edge Malaysia*.

https://www.theedgemarkets.com/article/government-should-enable-conduciveenvironment-digitalisation

- Ten, M. (2022, October 25). Sarawak to optimise hydrogen production, technical know-how, says Premier. *The Borneo Post*. <u>https://www.theborneopost.com/2022/10/25/sarawak-to-optimise-hydrogen-production-technical-know-how-says-premier/</u>
- Teoh, S. (2023, February 27). Malaysia's 5G rollout still in limbo despite PM Anwar's new deadline. *The Straits Times*. <u>https://www.straitstimes.com/asia/se-asia/malaysia-s-5g-rollout-still-in-limbo-despite-pm-anwar-s-new-deadline</u>

The Borgen Project. (2020). Improving water and sanitation in Malaysia.

 $\underline{https://borgenproject.org/water-and-sanitation-in-malaysia/}$ 

- The Borneo Post. (2023, January 24). Address lack of health infrastructures in S'wak's rural areas, reps tells MOH. <u>https://www.theborneopost.com/2023/01/24/address-the-lack-of-health-infrastructures-in-swaks-rural-areas-reps-tells-moh/</u>
- The Edge Malaysia. (2022, August 22). Enriching Malaysia's digital tech talent. *The Edge Malaysia*. <u>https://theedgemalaysia.com/content/advertise/enriching-malaysias-digital-</u> <u>tech-talent</u>
- The Edge Markets. (2021). *Powering GE forward globally from Kuala Lumpur*. <u>https://www.theedgemarkets.com/content/advertise/powering-ge-forward-globally-kuala-lumpur</u>
- The Star. (2022, April 22). *Work-based learning for seamless transition to employment*. <u>https://www.thestar.com.my/starpicks/2022/04/22/work-based-learning-for-seamless-transition-to-employment</u>
- The Star. (2023a, February 10). *Malaysia's GDP growth set to be highest in ASEAN*. <u>https://www.thestar.com.my/business/business-news/2023/02/10/malaysias-gdp-growth-set-to-be-highest-in-asean</u>

The Star. (2023b, January 18). More incentives for EVs.

https://www.thestar.com.my/business/business-news/2023/01/18/more-incentives-forevs

The Star. (2023c, February 3). Teamwork to ensure no TVET mismatch.

https://www.thestar.com.my/news/nation/2023/02/03/teamwork-to-ensure-no-tvet-

mismatch

Times Higher Education. (2023). World University Rankings 2023.

https://www.timeshighereducation.com/world-university-rankings/2023/worldranking

- Top Universities. (2023). *QS World University Rankings 2023: Top global universities*. https://www.topuniversities.com/university-rankings/world-university-rankings/2023
- Transparency International. (2019). Corruption Perceptions Index 2019. https://www.transparency.org/en/cpi/2022
- Transparency International. (2022). Corruption Perceptions Index 2022. https://www.transparency.org/en/cpi/2019
- Tuah, M. A. E., Tedong, P. A., & Dali, M. (2022). The challenges in rural infrastructure planning governance in Sarawak. *Journal of the Malaysian Institute of Planners*, 20(5), 391–403.

https://www.planningmalaysia.org/index.php/pmj/article/view/1214/896

U.S. Department of State. (2021). 2021 Investment Climate Statements: Malaysia. https://www.state.gov/reports/2021-investment-climate-statements/malaysia/

United Nations. (n.d.). Training toolkit on effective national to local public governance for SDG implementation. https://unpan.un.org/sites/unpan.un.org/files/Module%202.3%20Whole%20of%20Go

<u>vernment.pdf</u>

Universiti Sains Malaysia. (n.d.). Knowledge Transfer Program (KTP).

https://medic.usm.my/neurosciences/index.php/en/79-about-us/141-knowledge-

transfer-program-ktp

- University Kuala Lumpur. (2023). UniKL among TVET institutions joins forces with 18 industry leaders. <u>https://www.unikl.edu.my/tvetindustryleaders/</u>
- Voon, Y. H., & Chong, P. L. (2022). *Tax incentive for green initiatives*. https://www.crowe.com/my/news/tax-incentive-for-green-initiatives
- WIPO. (2022). *GII 2022 at a glance*. <u>https://www.wipo.int/edocs/pubdocs/en/wipo-pub-</u> 2000-2022-section1-en-gii-2022-at-a-glance-global-innovation-index-2022-15thedition.pdf

Wong, A. (2023). Budget 2023: New EV incentives that were not announced in Parliament, tax-free CKD EVs until 2027. Soya Cincau. <u>https://soyacincau.com/2023/02/24/budget-2023-new-ev-incentives-that-were-not-announced-in-parliament/</u>

Wong, J. (2022, June 13). Sarawak to export green hydrogen to South Korea. *The Star*. <u>https://www.thestar.com.my/business/business-news/2022/06/13/sarawak-to-export-green-hydrogen-to-south-korea</u>

Woof, M. (2022, March 16). *Malaysia's key highway project*. https://www.worldhighways.com/wh10/news/malaysias-key-highway-project

World Bank. (2021). *World Bank country and lending groups*. <u>https://datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/906519-world-bank-</u> country-and-lending-groups

World Bank. (2022). The World Bank in Malaysia.

https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/malaysia/overview#:~:text=Since%20gaining %20independence%20in%201957,of%20electrical%20appliances%2C%20parts%2C %20and World Bank. (2023). *People using safely managed drinking water services (% of population)* – *Malaysia*. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.H2O.SMDW.ZS?locations=MY</u>

World Data. (2023). Malaysia. https://www.worlddata.info/asia/malaysia/index.php

- World Economic Forum. (2019). *Top 100: Ranking of countries according their quality of infrastructure in 2019*. <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/264753/ranking-of-</u>countries-according-to-the-general-quality-of-infrastructure/
- Yeo, A. (2020, October 13). Let no state be left behind. *The Sun Daily*. https://www.thesundaily.my/opinion/let-no-state-be-left-behind-CE4574260
- Yeo, A. (2023, January 9). Fix dilapidated facilities in East Malaysia. *The Sun Daily*. <u>https://www.thesundaily.my/opinion/fix-dilapidated-facilities-in-east-malaysia-</u> <u>CA10454512</u>
- Zulkifli, M. A. (2022). Empowering local SMEs to integrate into the global value chain. https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/empowering-local-smes-integrate-global-valuechain-zulkifli/

## **About Sunway IGSC**

Sunway Institute for Global Strategy and Competitiveness (Sunway IGSC) is dedicated to extending its research focus beyond the traditional economic boundary of competitiveness and draws into its coverage social and environmental considerations as explicit factors of competitiveness.

Based on a more inclusive and holistic consideration, Sunway IGSC identifies three primary pillars of competitiveness: Economic, Social, and Environment. The three pillars of competitiveness provide direction and focus to the type of questions asked and the work conducted within IGSC:

- Economic health This pillar investigates drivers of competitiveness from the vantage point of firms, industry, and national ecosystems, with a particular focus on policies and drivers of structure and competitive strategies to create positions of sustainable advantage.
- Social health This pillar focuses on issues of distribution of wealth, equity, and unity within ecosystems as a consequence of economic policies and strategies at the firm, industry, and national levels. The lens scrutinizes who creates value, for whom, and how is this value distributed among the diverse stakeholders operating within the ecosystem. It stresses the need for inclusive creation and sharing of value creation to ensure shared prosperity.
- Environment health This pillar scrutinizes how actions of individuals, firms, industry, and government impact the environment and draws into explicit consideration the need to go beyond the simple mantra of firm profit maximization and short-run economic development and competitiveness by holistic consideration of the costs to the natural environment and life of species, including that of the human race over the long run.

The mission of the Sunway IGSC is to conduct meaningful fundamental and translational research exploring global strategy and competitiveness to contribute to the strategic transformation and competitiveness of governments, industries, and society in the context of rapidly changing global dynamics.

This report is published and copyrighted by Sunway IGSC.

The views expressed in this document are solely those of the authors, and do not reflect the views of Sunway IGSC. This publication or any portion thereof may not be directly reproduced or used in any manner without the express permission of the publisher except for use of brief quotations. Any person(s), body or institution(s) wishing to use significant parts is kindly asked to ask for permission from Sunway IGSC.

## TO REFERENCE TO THIS PUBLICATION:

Teow, H. H., Balakrishnan, D. G., Ahmed, P. K., Nair, M. S., & Vaithilingam, S. (2023). *8i ecosystem analysis of the maturing ASEAN country – Malaysia* (Working Paper No. IGSC WP 2023-003). Sunway Institute for Global Strategy and Competitiveness.